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| THE P:Pi}E-"’S TESTIMGNY i
 BERWARD PFLASTER,o ‘
~v3ufeau,‘assigﬁed‘to.the.17thAPr¢hinc§, a witn§$é
behalf of "the People, being dulﬁfswern; téstified«ﬁs follow
DIRECT EKAMINATION BY MR. COLLIGAN: | |
‘Q¢ hAnd you were a_membef of the force 6nlthé;_9tl_
May, 1912?' A, ‘Yés,_sir.'  ‘ .
Q. And you arrested thé.defeﬁdant? LA Ybsg
Q. TWhere? A. At Clinton and Hbuston.
Q. ZAnd'that is in the City and COunty,bf New‘i
A, (Yes, sir. | . | s

NY THE COURT te—o

-

Qs What time was he arrested, day or pight? ;

11:30 P, M.

Q. Then it was at/ night? A. Yes, sir. =

BMROOWAGAN: e ) LT
Q. Was he alone or accompanied by other pepplé?"f A; §NQ;[g
he was in company with about five or six othersa = o ,
Q. Men or women? A. Men,

Q. All men? A. Yes, sir.

’

Q. And did you search him? A. Yes, sirs

Q. And what did you find, if anything, on his person?
A. A gun., I frisked him, and 1 found a revolver fully loaded
{indicating) . . . | |

k.




:BY THE COURT' | . |
' Q,. On Wha,t part of h:Ls person dld hev‘. 4
’mgrht hand coat pocket. : He had a mbber &oat
vcoat under the rubber coat.
.'BY MR. COLLIGAN: _
'Q.  And in the pock eﬁ of the u.:nde_r é’p'at'he‘ ha la
A, Ygé, sir. : A | L
BY THE COURT: ‘ L"é’
Q. When &oxi éay a light coat, ao’:rou.rhéan é.:-rsa.é-;‘k"téoat
A, Yes,”_sirq: | | | S
Qe A coat like ':jou_rs? A.‘ 'Yés su- a coat likg ‘jm ne
.Q,. And when you say a mbber coat do *you mean
coat? A. Yes, sir. |

’ ‘ . e

And under the rain coat he had a 'short;,' sack

Q. And you frisked him and found it in his pocPet?A
‘sir. ‘ e

s,

Q. The sun,-you mean? A. Yes, sir.

Q. And what was the cond1 tion of the gun? A. Fullyload&d .

BY MQ. COLLIGAN' |
Q. And these é.re the shells vithl;hich it was loaded, (in-
dicating)?  A. Yés, sire | , - s R
Q. And this is the .five'chsmbered rev-ol‘vax" which :ﬂm
found on his person? A. Yes, sir. |

The plstol and the cartmﬁ es are affarcﬁ in

evidence and admitted without abg mﬁnn* an& markm

, R




reSpect1vd1y Pe0p1e s Ekhlbits l an

. BY MR. COLLI mm- -

Qe Who was. w1th you OfflcerV A@ *D3t§¢£;°

with me at the time. wexnade the arrests
y Qs Did you have a.conversation'with'fhg éeféﬁ a
time of his arrest? A. I asked him what he wWas
the guﬁ: and he deniéd absolutely having thelguﬁ inﬁf

‘sion. N . L -,

Qe What did he say?f'A.‘ He said,'"i didhft ﬁavéft;‘
1 don t know anythlng about it. o ' | } .
AQ; 'He said, "L didn 't have the gun. ~I don‘t-&nbw anyﬁ
thlng about it" ? A, Yes, sire Ca
Qe D1d his friends ranaln there? A. No, 8150  ;
got there 1 grabbed one, and Detective Llebers grabbedA

one and the rest ran away.

Q. And the rest ran away? A, _Ygs,-31r5 ~
Q@+ Did you have any further conversatlon thh hlmy With .
the defendant? A. (No answer). ’
BY THE COURT: A L
Q. When you say you grabhed one which one do yoﬁ m§$n§'
A, The defendant here. RS a’
Q. That is, you mean you arrested him? A. Yes, sir;vwé;

found the revolver on him. _ ’
Q. And you grabbed him first?  A. Yes, sirs

-

Q. And caught hold of"him? A, Yas, gir&




et S AP AR L LR S g B

BY MR. GOLLIGAN‘
’ Q.a

No, sir; only he denlea‘hav1ng'a~gan-1nkhigi“

Did vou have any further conve

’

BY THE GOURT:

Qe Juét‘show.the jury-how_&du ”fris#“*&iﬁa f

Say,~wheﬁ you arreét him? | A, 'I_grabbEd‘him'aﬁd?w

wey (illustrating) , and found a gan in the little
pockét. | ‘ |

| Q; That is, you ran your hands up and GOWn:r;f

\-the clothing and the pockets of the defendant? _ 4¢ 

Q. And You,found‘a,hard substance:therefinféng

A, Yes,sir. | | ‘A . |

Q.' Anda you put yoﬁr hand in there}’an&foundf‘h

AL Yes, sir. | | | g

Q. And he said he never had it? As Yes, S@?@J}ﬁ

CROSS EXAMI'NATIAON'BY MR, MITNICK: - _

Qe N‘ow,‘what time of night gia 3;ou say you :ﬁ‘n.rStsmr |

the defendént? A, About eleven q'clpck. | ,  :

Q. And where was he standing? A. Oﬁvclintbn'ngﬁfi  "fié
Houston Street. “ *

Q. And what was the first thing you did when iéu,$é€ the .
defendant and 6thers standiﬁg there? The‘two~of-uslra#;np :.
and we g-;abbed him -- I grabbed the dcfendant , and :m# partner
grabbed the other fellow, | . | | ‘

Q. And vou know this defandant* @on't you? A+ Yo, " ’




~ On both sides.

"his body right down (1llustrating)

‘ ‘voiver, didn't he accuse you of.placingAit in his pocket?( A;ws"y}

sir, I never saW‘hzm before.

Q.“ Ybu didn’t see the man doing anythln ai" he
‘did you? A. ;Nq, sir.

-
! )

Q. And notwithstending that fact, you ran up
one man and.that was this defehdant? CA, Yes, sir.'.
Q. Now, you say you friSKed him did you? Agﬁ

Q; Now, which’ side of the body did you friak him

Q. And on which side did you find the revolver°'f7 1ﬁ L
the right hand 51de. L ‘

Q. And you didn't feel hls back pocket at all,.j 
A, I frlsked him on'both sides and then~put_my,arm8gk5v;

Q. And when you asked him what he was domng with the re-,

No, sir, not at the time, not at that time, but when We got to
the station house he accused me that I framed him up, - 3
Q. VWhat did he say? A, That is what he gaid,ﬁ uyaugare?;'
framing me up." | | r
BY THE CGOURT: ‘ '
Q. What did you understand by those words, office??.fA.V}
Well, I ﬁnderstbod that I placed the gun>myself‘into his péckét,‘
Q. That he charged you with tha$? A, Yés, gir,.

Q. But you had never seen him bef Te that night' had,you?
A, No, sir,




BY MB. MI TNICK:

Q. . Dld you go alone or was any one ac om;”;

time? A, Detective Llebers was w1th:me.'f*7"
.' Q. Well who was in front, you 
~came around the corner? A, Ve were
ébréast; o
Q. And were you abreast at the time you arrivéd
gecene Wheré these men Were staﬁding?'“A& Yes, éirjt
around the corner, the two of us, abreast and we ran up {o
'together.
MR, MITNICK: That is all,
VR, COLLIGAN; That is all, 2

CHARLES A, L I B B ER S, of the 17th

>Precipdt a withess called in behalf of The.PeOple,ube;ng7du;y§;:“':
sworn, testifled as follows' o A L ’1 1ﬁt?;f’ :'A
DIRECT EXAUINATICH BY MR, COLLIGAN: S
'Q. Ybu assisted in the arrest ‘of this defendant did
yéu‘ﬁot? A, Yes, sir,
Q; Will you state to the Jjury the circumstances surround~
ing the arrest? A. While Detectlve Pflaster and myself came
around from Suffolk to Houston Street, and at Clznton and

Houston Street we found the "gang" i

i : ‘ MR, MITNICK: I object to the word "gang" and

move'tp strike it out,



TRV,

e sttt 4

THE COURT'

'Q{ Go ,on, Officer?

men,

went to this crowd, and started to searqhtthem‘,;xfsgg

thIOugh with my two men, and Officer Pflaster called 0.

has got a gun," and I turned around, and saw. hxm pull‘a,gun

-out of his pocket, out of his coat pocket (111ustra$1ng).‘

Q. And how was the defendant dressed" A, I bela.eve he‘

had on a brown suit and B mackintogh raincoat oﬁer that.brqwn

guit, and the gun was ip the right hand coat pocket of thé;*;;

brown suit.

Q. In the pocket of the under coat9 A.i Yes, sir.

Qo
1? A; Yes, sir; that's the gun,

Do you recognlze ‘this gun (1nd1cat1ng People'a Exhib t

]

Qe
time? ‘A, Yes, sir; it was fully loaded.

"And state whether or not the gun was loaded at that .

Q. Did you have any conversatlon with the defendant? ‘fjf}”"

A, Yo, sir, I walked down bekind Offlcer PIlaster to ﬁhe

/ . - station house. There were six or 81ght men started to go on

down behind us, and I kept behind, so that they would ot dow
anything, -
CBOSS EXANIHATIGN ‘BY MR, MITNICK

.. Q. Did you put any mark on this gun? A, I didn't; ‘ﬁo:,;sir;

Q.
No, sir,

Did you see anybody else pux-a.ma;k on this‘gun? A;




Q. Now, was. there any'mark put on thls g
it was taken from the defendant? -A, ‘Not‘thaﬁ T
Q. Do_you know whether your aséb@iate:pu$ any
gun? A. I don{t knbw.: | |
| Q. You were Wifh him; we?en't you?n A.

with him at the time of the arrest,

And you .accompanied him to the stétion houée?;: 

Q. And then to the pollce court? ‘A. Yes, sir,

Q, And this gun was in the posse851on of the police
fram the time it was taken, as you. 5y, from the defendant
until 1t wa.s produced here in court wasn't 1t? CA Yesi

Q. Well, isn't it custamarj to put marks on, property
taken froam a prlsoner? A, Not unless they are homlcideﬂyases
| Q. Now for the purpose of ident1f1cation9 A, No,\:
BY THE COURT'

Q. Well, you didn't have the gun; did you? _A. 1ﬁc;h§i§; fﬂ<5
Detective Pflaster had the gun. L
BY MR, MITNICK: | g3
Q. Now, how many men were on the scene_WhenaYOqcariiigd,ai,
there? A, Six, | | | | "1’1 
Q. Did you se#rch them all? A, N;,-I seé:ched'fwo"of
- them, and some of them ran away, }-,  -
Q. And you did not' search the defendant at all’ A, ’NQ;=’
sir, ' S R
Q. And you did not .sec the gun on him, except that &oﬁ Baw

r~




the officer who had him in cha.rge produce ‘bhﬂe‘
called o me, "He has go‘b a gun" And a.s I
seen h1m pulling the gun out of- hlS pocke‘b
Qe D1d the defendarrb make any s‘ba’cemen‘b to a;ny 0
after his arrest? A, He made none to ‘me,
BY THE COURT'
Q. Well did you hear- him make any to any'body elﬁa
No, sir, I didn't, .
BY MR, MITNICK:
Qe Did he make any in the station house or in the
~court? A. In the station house he sa:l.d some'lning a.bout
didn't have the gun in his pocket; that somequ-yput_?:i:t
there, he said, | o -

-

q. Did he ma.ke any accusatlon againat any one who "had

custody" A, To, s:.r.

Q. Now, did he say that Pflaster put the gun in h:.s;pocke'b?

A, ﬁo, sir; I didn't hear him say that,
REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, COLLIGAW: | ;

Q:, He might have made some s‘tatement when you weren"b
within hearing, mightn't he? A, Yes, sir. ' |

Q,. You Werej not within hearing all 'bhe tz.me, were: you?

{ : . ,J 5

A, - No, sir, ;
BY THE THIED: JUROR: |
Q. Under what circumstances did you go up and search.

anybody there? A. Well, a little boy came running up to us




place, and I went . around there andzrecognmzad'iﬁ a
Doggig" crowd,. | | | _.v_ | .
| MR, MITNICK: I object to. that,
please, énd T move that éli thét be stri¢k§h 

about the "thtle Doggie" crowd. o

. THE COURT: Yes. ObJectlon sustained.‘ é

1t out _ And the Jjury will dlsregard it Y;ﬁ 
gentlemen of the Jury, the officer has a righ£1
dlscharge of his duty, to do certain things, D k

are not concerned with his reasons here."'Thg que
tion here is whether he did them or noﬁ;  N$ﬁ t‘a&
answer is objectioﬁable,'because it iéheérsa"

and it is'ﬁot binding on the.defendént if~sdm§ ody ..

said something in his absence, and, when thefdbaectio

is made, of course I have to sustain it, and strike;iﬁ‘j5 7

“out, 2
BERNARD PFLASTEHR, being recalled<by

Counsel for the defendant, for further cross. examinaﬁian,
testified as follows:
BY MR, MITNICK: , .

Q. Did you.put any marks on this revolver when yonffound~
it, as you say, on the defeﬁdant? A, Yo, sir§ but I ﬁutxa-ﬁag
on it.. o | e




Q. Will you tell us what the scrat

the revolver means (indicatlng)? 'A@"Igdb '

about 1t

Qg, You see that there, don't yau”- A, Ehéfe

-scratching there.

BY THE COURT:

A

 Q. Well, you didn't. make that there, dld yau,g

No, sir,

Q. And it means nothlng to you? A, No, sir,

Qe

A, No, sir,

And did you ever say that you made scratches ﬁhere?

BY MR, MITNICK: | - R
Q.

identificatlon, by you or some other officer; do you9 7‘

But you don't know whether that wag put in there fo 

didn't do it, That is all I know,

Q. And it might have been, before that in the. possession,

of some police officer, and that mark put in there for identifi?f¥;

Ty
Pay

caglon;.might it not? A, That I don't know'anything abput;{flfi gi

not as I know of,

MR. COLLIGAN: The People rest

) THE COURE: Now, Mr, Mitnick, if your client

wants an adjournment I will give him one, to’ procure L

+

the attendance of w1tnesses, if' he has any.

MR, MITNICK: Very well, I will find out if his

witnesses are outside or'net.‘ I understand that ﬁhey



,‘and,theyﬁmayﬂhavevunderstgod'thaﬁ th
home,

~ THE COURT: Well, under. the circum tai

will grant an adaournment unt il tomorro ;

'We can take up this case at half past ten'_
it.

' The Court' thgn. admonished the Jux‘y in accod

section 415 of the;COde-of Criminal Procedur§ é
an adjournment until tomorrow morning,_ﬂ‘u_yL

1912, at 10:30 o'clock).




Trinl iRéétméﬁ;“'

(Mr. Arthur Gutman appeared, and relieveb

Mr. Mitnlck).

MR, COLLIGAN: The People, rest, your Hon

THE DEFENCE
| P H i LI P P RIE D M A.N the defendant
.774 Tafayette Avenue, Brooklyn, being duly sworn, testifi; '
follows:s | |
DIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, GUTIAN:
:Q - How - old are :you? . A, 22.
Q. “Do you remember May 29th 1912?
Q{
either of them on that day? A, . :
evening, or the latter part of the night standing 1n*fr‘nt'6f
Houston and Suffolk Street, havlng a conversatlon With one maﬁ
known as "Dollar John", and another known as Harry Shea.# o
Q; Who is "Dollar John"? - A, He conducts a.gambling
house at ZézlEast Houston Streét, and another a$,1§8-Suﬁ§qI&
Street and also == o '
: Q. What kind of a gambling house is that at 282 East
Houston Street? A, Those are two stuss gambling houses.

Q. Have you ever been in them? Au I have been in 282




Eaet.Houstcn_Streét.

8. And played there? A. Yes, sir, .
. .Q" \
place?

Q.

.-office that they run gambllng houses
_tlon at the present day.
Q. Who has? A, "Dollar John" }
Q. Well what was the trouble" A, Well, after r
statements to him, I walked out, and in‘company,with'twa
I walked down,CIinton‘Streetg to Stanton, and, asze'tﬁ?f
the corner, two detectiveé jumped‘on us and eearehed*ﬁe;;
he ‘told mé I had a'revolver,,and_they forced me intbyé,ﬁf)lw Y

and forced me to run upstairs, and chased me to the robf,,

asked them d1d I throw a revolver awvay, and, seeing that I ,Sfjﬂw
didn't have a revolver and the people did not give them any
satlsfactory statements, they let me g0, and I returned to
vHouston Street and seen these two detectives in conVersatlon

with "Dollar John",  But they were not the detect;ves-that;

arrested me,

Q. Now, what detectives were in ccnversatioh.vith'beiler




John"? I.dcpft understahdfyguggf;[§f * 

of Kemp,
Q.

'fifteen mlnutes previous to my arrest I had seen them.

Q. Where dld you see them° A,
Suffolk Street ] |

Q. What were they doing? A, Talking to %Doilaifydﬁn ‘an
1Harry Shea, o |

Q. Who was with you at the time xmmedlately prlor o ‘you
arrest? A, There were three fellows with me,

Q. Who were they? What were their names? A;..d
Otto Campbell, and one was Paul Tobias,‘and'ahother falidﬁﬁ:ﬁ
that I know as "Delly", . . | | i

Q. And where had - you been° A I had been ice
cream parlor in Houston Street near Avenue B., ”3 as I left
that ice cream parlor I looked up the street‘to the c::ozl:'ne:‘c':w«.sT
of Suffolk and Houston, and saw these two detectlves in ccn-'"
versatlon with "Dollar John" and Harry Shea. 3

Q. Now, how soon after you saw the detectiveé’ih'bbhF"
versation w1th.“Dollar thn" and Harry'Shea did they~come up on :

.you? A, About ten minutes afterwards.'




‘Q, Where dld they'meet you.

Q. Is that 1n front of Goldberg's llquork._f

Lo

sir; rlght in front of “that place.

ing), and threw me 1nto Detective Liebers' axms,
Pflaster tried to force a revolver into my left pocket
rain coat ‘
Q.
on that I have at present with the‘raln coat over it
Q.
that I was boardmng at
a.
A, In: the left hand pocket of my rain coat

How were you dressed that nlght9 CA. I had the;s t

Is that rain coat here? A, ©No, It is 3t'th5f‘

‘Into what pocket. dﬁd they aﬁtempt to put this‘re lve

Q.

. How were you facing at the txme? ‘A.- I“ﬁésef

north on Clinton Streset,

Qe Fa01ng north on Clinton Street9 A. TYes, sir;¥:~'ﬁ‘

Q. That is, you were looking in the direction of AVenue_J;‘;eﬁ

B,? A, Yes, sir,

Q. And how did Liebers come up to.you? A, He came up“
and grabbed me by the lapels of the coat, (1llustrat1ng) and
swung me around and threw me rlght 1nto the arms of Pflaster
and he put his arms around me and tried to force'the revolver
into my left hand raincoat podket. R
He had the revolver in his right-hand.sleeve,(iliﬁsz




tratlng), and I saw the revolver there;y
- Wrist,, and he assaulted me w1th hls left‘hand‘

ver flashing from his sleeve, and, as he att 5 et
finto ny pocket T immediately canght him‘by the W iS!
‘agsgaulted me with his left hand, _ _ “

Qe VWéll. what happened then? 4A.  He then"tbﬁ"'
was a shooter, and I told him not to try to put that Tevo.
my pocket and he says that I had it, andAwalked mé_tbgth%H

statlon house., L o [ o

A frlend accompanied me to the station house, éﬂﬁ
complained that I didn't have that revolver, and ﬁhat he sa'
thls officer attempt to put it in my pocket

" And he tried to have the offlcers arrest**
hold him as an eye w1tness, which they refused to do;

He asked the pollce sergeant ‘to enter him on thé
‘blotter that he was an eye witness, and had Wltnessed rt
and he told him to appear ;n-court in the'mnrning.
mediately begged them to arrest him; |

Q; Now, did you ever éafryAa gun? A, No,~éir;‘

Q. Now, dld you have a gun -in your possesszon ai the
time? . o | :
| | THE COURT: Well, he says he never had one, |
Please get along as fast as you can, _10ur§img,i§"ky
valuable. o -

BY MR, GUTMAN:

Q. Have you ever bz=en convicted of = ¢fi@ﬁ?; A. I pleaded




MRS

 guilty in Brooklyn of Grand Larceny, and Judgey'f;
to Elmlra.
CROSS ﬁXAMINATION BY MR COLLIGAN. _
Q. And you violated your parol, and you were
“t0 Elmira a second time; weren't you9 A, T vmllétéd'“
parol by refu51ng to make reports, and was sent back‘t Elmir
‘Q; You vialated ybur parol by refusing to make re
an%were sent back to Elmira9 A, Yes, sir,
q;' How old-are you?‘.A. 22. .
Q; Whaﬁ is your business?"A. I'ama‘maChiniéﬁ; ‘
Q;" Machlnlst° ‘A.l Yes, sir;' Ax,the,time_lfwaéff

ed I was out*uflk‘ployment,:and I was peddling with fr

Q. ,You weré a peddler when arrested?-'A. YES;QSi'
Q. And now you are a machinist? A, I Was 6ut¢§£
- ployment as a machinist, and was peddling fruits;. ‘ |
_Q; qu, now many years did;you g0 .t0 ‘school? A;;ﬁ
to school from the time I was six years old until ,;}'
Q; And when did you leave aftér éoing to schboi? ‘A -’Whan
I was fifﬁeen. ‘ | | 5
Q. When you were fifteen? A, Yes, sirs
Q. What did you. do then, wﬁen you left sckmol9 A
went to work,
Q. You went to work9 ‘A, Yés; sir,
Q. For whom? A, D anes and Company;

LI

Q. What line of business? -A, Shirt manufacturers. :




Q. A, L%

530 BrOadway, ‘I am not sure, I forget no.w.»

Where ls their place of ‘ousiness‘?

Q. How long did you remain there‘? A.. ‘About;"t‘ TEe.
Q. Where did _yougo'th_en? m. I went to the Baro 1 de Hirsch
- Trade School,

Q. How long were you there? A, - 8ix ‘months’. -
Q. What trade did you e arn there? A Machinists' tra.de;'
Qe Maclllnlst,'svtrade? A, Yes, s1r. |
Q,'; You learned that in six mon-ths‘? A. Yes, s:i}.rv.'
Q. What did you do then, after you left -that school‘? A,
I went to work for the LOng Island Railroad Com-pa.ny.‘ :
Q. What year was that? A, - It was 1909, |
Q,., ‘How old were you ’chen‘? A, A llttle past nz.neteen.;
Q. Now, in wha’c depamtmen’o of the Long Isla.nd Ba.:x.lroad |
Company d.i‘ci’ you work? ,_A.' In the machine shops.
Q. In the machine shops? A, Yes, sir,
Q. How long were you there? A, One montﬁ,
Q. One month? A, 'Yes, 'svir. | i
Q. What part of 1909 was that? A. I think it WaB,A@rgl;f““
Q,.} Apriﬂ.l, 1909? A, Yes, sir,
Q. 'Yoﬁ are sure it was 1909? A, Yes, . s.ir;.I. ‘think ,s‘oc.'t
Q,A.A. And you Worked there until May, 1909? A, No, si:r:,I
went through the month of Aprn.l B | e

Q,.> All right, then. You worked du.ring the manth of April"._"
' .
there? A. Yes, sir,

ST



And then wEEre,did you gd?‘ﬁA I left’l

AQ‘Y
and I was arrasted then, and was sentenced to, Elmir

~month of May.

fl

Q.. During'the month of May? A, Yes, sir, &
- Q. So that how many'years have you worked in the'méchi

ist's business? A; I Worked about a year and a half a

| er, in various places.
Q. You worked about a year and a half altogether in
~various places? A, Yes, sir. , {
Q. Now, you worked one month for the Long Island Ra.:Ll:roadti
Gompany? A, Yes,u sir.

Q.' . Where else did you work9 Anywhere else9 Al 'ATheﬁ";‘

I worked for the Manufacturlng Bottles Supplles Campany, 568
Cherry Street | ‘ .
Q. How long did you work there? A, Five months, .
Q. In What year lwas that? § A 1911‘ : o
Q. From which month untllgwhich month did you woﬁk therefgﬁ;g
in 19119 A, I think it was in January I went to work =
Q. In Januvary, 1911? A, -Yes, sir, N S
Q:‘ An& for the next five months yeu worked where? A;fo~"
Tor the Manufacturing Eottling Supplies Campany, geas
s Q. And where is their place of business. A, .568'Ghei§y'il"

L Street, New York
v

Q. And what did you do there? A, I was a machinist

helper there,

0.  And what did you do when you left there? That;wbﬁl@ ’



be upon the month of May; 1911? A, Well, ii»

about a month and a half, and was returned for &
,parol to Elmlra. , |
Q; Yés, you went back to the reformmtory9 A;‘
Q.' And you swore in your aff1dav1t tha$ you}Weie
peddler when you were arrested? A,. Yes, sir, - p"
Q. Now, where dld yon regide in 1909?‘ A; A£:256¥:
clusko Street, Br ooklyn. | | |
| Q. At 256 Kosc1usko ‘Street, Brooklyn? A _‘Yes; sif5
Q. And how long did you reside there, frovaanugryo_ét
119092 A, Until the time of my arrest, in May, when Iwa.
Asent ﬁo Elmiré. | , | | ' ”
Q. Wnd where did you reside when you left Elmira?v oA
the same place, | =
Q. What is the name of the place9 A, 256 Kbsofﬂ
Street, Brooklyn.. ‘
Q. Now, how long did yoﬁ remain theré? A, .Uhﬁilkﬁho
time of my arrest, when I was sent back to Elmgra. ‘: | N?i 
Q. And why did you tell them in Zoe Police Court fhat}
you re51ded at 74 Layayette Avenue, Brooklyn? AL Whal I waa
released a second time from Elmira, @iy folks had removed fran
.Kosclusko Street to Lafayette Avenue, and I lived with.them., :
Q.' And you lived With them at the tlme of your arreet?‘
A.. No, sir,

0.

v e

How lohg did you live with them? -A."I'li#e&‘wiﬁh them

about a month.

—Q¢ One-month? ~, Yes, gir:



2 Niaot g R T EAHI At T e e

Q.

_w1th s ome p50ple.v~

And then Where did you go°'-

Q ~ Boarding Wiﬁh ‘s ome people° ﬂu Yeé,asif

Q.

Now, when dld you go to 24 Avenue B

‘ - : %bout a . month ﬁr flve weeks after I was released fram
e ’ Sahe - :
> R e Q., Now, ‘when would thax make 1t? A. ‘Well, I w

on March 3, and probably about March 15 I went,wﬁliiv
Avenue B, B - | o
Q. At 24 Ayenue B ? A, Yes, gir,
Q.' March 18th you say? A Yes, sir. | | _
Q. Well, how 1ong did j Jou live at 24 Avenue B.l’.Aﬁ
the time of my arrest,

Q. Untll the time of the arrest in, thls ‘cage? A.  ¥¢5

Q; Well, then, if ybu ﬁere living at 24 Ayenue.ﬁ?y@iytf
‘time of your arrest why did you éa& that you:Were livingf¢ v
774 Lafayette Avenue; Brooklyn?_ A, I give ﬁhe éeresé 6f §“
folks, | | N ! .‘ S
Q. Oh, yes; Now, what is your name? ‘A Philip Frhwd,
. ’ man; | | | ‘T

Q. What otherfnameg have you travelled under? ,A;E‘I‘ﬁ
not trévelléd under any other names, but people’called‘me f‘i-;?:yﬁ
"Wonk", | | -

Q. Yes, "Monk" is one of your aliases ? A. Nb,i 'YIif
never traveled under that name, I give that name to anybody;'A

B Q. Did you ever give that name to thsupollce department



when you were arrested? A No, sir.

Q. Now, are you sure you never used another n e th:

Friedman9 A TXo, sir. .
“'Q. Do you recollect June 23, 19127 A;'.Yes, 5
Q. You used~another name that day, when you Wefef
for a crime; didn't ydﬁ?' A; I was not grrested'oh7%£gf
‘{-' Q You were not? A, No; sir, | :
Q. You were not arrested for burglary,‘on thét‘day? ?
Nq,'sir. | | S
Q;‘4Y0u were not'arfested'in ffont‘of 30 Olinton‘streét
charged with attempting to burglarize the premlses of the
Berlin Waterproof Campany? A, No, sir. ‘
.Q. And didn't you give the police, at that time, the
“name of Philip Fein? A, Oh, no, sir; I did not, L
THE COURT: What was that, -An grresf_oé}a;'_non

viction? | - L ‘}53

MR, COLLIGAN'

An arrest, if your Honor plaaae.

name, and I agked him if he did not glve anothsr(namé
then, | A
BY MR, COLLIGAN: | | T
'Q.W.Now, on the 23rd of June, 1912, when arrested, what were
you doing at 3:55 A, M, on the street? A, I was not on ’ahe_‘" |
gtreet at that time, | o

o

Where were you that day? 4 I was at home,



P

Q. - Where? A, 24 Ayenue B; sleeping.;‘

Qe Do you remember saying anyﬁhing o thejo pi

case in the Magistrates'~00urt to the

effect that

they did not put a gun in your podket° A, No, sir
. Q’ *
w1tness stand? ,A. The lawyer admitted that,, that,he 833

Do you remember your 1awyer adm;ttlng that; niﬁh

sameone put the revolver in my pocket, but he would noti

- these officers. " I made no statement whatever.

Q.. Now, you had spoken to your 1awyer before you went

into court; hadn't you? . A;' If you Will let me explain,
‘will exylain how thls was brought about

Q. Never mind how it was brought about, Your 1aﬁy§ﬁy

said that ; didn't he? A, Yes, sir; but he didn't state 1t

to:me, and he didn't state it for me, He stated it on hls, wn

. .
k]

word,

Q.. But he did state it; didn't he; that the officérs~e4

he admitted that the officers did not force the gun in your "
pocket? A He stated that he wduld not accuse these officera§ gf
Q.
been peddling this day of your arrest9
Qo-
Wednesdays. I peddle Monday, Thursday and Saturday.

Well, we will let it go at that. Now, had you s

A, Yo, sﬁ?~

What were you doing? - A, I don't do.anythlng on

Q. What do you peddle? A, Fruits,, oranges and;bananas;}~‘

Q.

your arrest? A,

And what were you doing during the entire day'of
Well I didn't do anything:&rticular.v

T



just. go around when I don‘t&pedé%e, and look at so_

yduring the’ day, to: see the prices of goods,'to-pr,w'
_next day's work | . | | Cl

Q. Now, what did you do from six o'clock up thaf
unﬁil your arrest9 ,A, Six o'clock up? i

Q. Yes? A; I was not-on the street7fraﬁ7aboﬁ£' our
- o'clock on, I Went up to the house after I was searched‘on:
Stahton Street, by these officers.A‘ I went to. the house and
stayed there untll about 9:30, | |

Q. Well,’what time did these officers search you on s
‘Stanton Street? A; Well, I should judge 1t‘wa3'between;‘fﬁr
‘three and four | | | | “

Q.. Was it either of these officers who searched. you9 “A;
No, sir. | | | f‘
| Q. Well, what did you do after you were chased by the
officers on Stanton Street,ﬁas you say° A I immedlatelyfwepf

i

home.

AN

Q. Do you mean to tell this jury that thezoffr'er searchrfgj‘

ed you there in the gtreet? . A. Yes, sir, in the hal ay.
Qe Now, isn't it a fact that an officer chased you and

that you ran up on the roof %o get away from him? A He grabbed:'

me, and forced me into a hallway, snd chased me up the stairajf‘

to the roof

woed

4Q. Now, didn't you run up to the roof to escape from.him?_
A, No, gir; ne forced me to run, he pushed.me into the hallwam% R

£
$ 4§




~and he pushéd me to the étaifs, énd heiforcedfmé _

Q. - Now;  what did you do after he chased you

?&__ .

you got badk “to your room? A

8., 9:30? A, Yes,'slr.' |
Q. Why did you go out at 9:30? A, I went .to a mo

!
L

picture show, |
Q. You went to é moving picture show? A, Yes, éiﬁ;fu
q. With whom? A, With this friend who was with mea:b the
£ ime of my arrest, —v .
| Q; What was his name? AA. Otto Camﬁbeli. . S
_Q; Is he here, today? A. He was supposed to 5e;heré;
Q. Is he here? A, I don't know; I don't'seé ﬁim;:i
7 there we met a few friends; And we left the’ moving pictu el
and crossed the street to the ice cream parlor,
| Q. Now, who' was with you on the corner when the off
came albng? A, otto Campbell, Paul Tobias, and a fellowbﬁyf*
the name of "Delly" | o ~‘1 '_1  ;
Q. YNow, what is 'Delly's" right name? A, I don't kmow
nim, He was an acquaintapee.of one of these boys, this“ﬁéﬁi[ﬁ}?i u
Tobias that was w1th me. | B ,‘ :
Q. _ Now, what does Paul Tobias doffor a living? A BT
think he is a grocer. i

q. And what does Campbell do? A, He works for a tailor

establisment,

Q. Don't you know, as a matter of fact, that he. is & bum?




No, s=sir, -

¥
W

1

MR, GUTMAN, on I ob;;ect to that‘
move to gstrike it out

- THE- CGURTW Obgection sustained

{  Btrike 1'!: out. '

i,

BY'HR. CGELIGAN*

Q{'

Q.

sir,

And wasn't hls brother there too? A, No 0y sir.w ;

Wasn't his brother, the ;p:wkpoc:l«:et,J there? A,

MR, GUTMAN: I object to thAe} characterization.
of another person in this cése a8 a pickpocketd
not binding on the defendent. |

MR, .COLLIGAN: Well, if your Honor please
a good foundation for my queetion, or I wouldn'fv
142 B

THE CGURT: Well, he hés ansﬁered the Quéé{

BY MR, COLLIGAN

Q.

sir.

Q.

No, sir,

Q;
Q.

doesn't he?

RS

Now, wasn't Campbell's brother there with.youﬁ A,j,ﬁ@,g~}

Do you know a man by the name of Edward Ginsberg? A,

You don't? A, No, sir,

Now, Bdward Ginsberg trawels undeékhe name of "Doggie”?t'

-8

MR, GUTMAN: I object to that as s.‘bsolu‘bely 1m-

- proper and immaterial, ¥rrelevent and inéomnetent

£
244




MR, COLLIGAN: . Well, I will withdra

tion. ‘ . :
Qe . Now I a.sk you if "Doggie" was not there, W
night? A. He Wasn't ‘with me, at the 'blme of the k

saw his happendmg, axchib 11c>w:n{’-%~ the- officers, but ‘he

with me, _ N
Q. And his right name@is-Edﬁaré'Ginsbergm isn*tt
don't know, I knowaa person by the name o:ﬁ' Doggle, but"I
d.on"b know hls real name. o _
.Q,. And he 1s behind the bars now, for crime;j 1sn"t ‘h »
[: I object to that, ag immat srial
irrelevant and 1ncompetent a.nd imprOper, , a;r_1d
agk for the withdrawal of a ju,ror'. | \v
.ATI{E COURT: I sustain t"h.e object o*n‘»,'; and, :Ln t
the jury o disregard the remard of fheDis.fb.rii,'.,
torney, The defendqnt is charged here Wi‘bh one
specific act onB>y,1 that is, he is charged Wn.'hh having
this weapon on nis person, "and he may be interrogated
by the District Attorney, if he takes the s‘band,w- |
| as he has done here, concerning any cximn.nal or dis-{‘;::?'{,{
graceful act in his career, not for the purpese o:E F
proving that hé had a revolver in his pocket on thate‘ =
nig,ht but solely as affecting his credi‘bili‘hy. Yxm»“
may consider that on the quegtion of credi’bility X

' alone,gentlemen.




MR, commm'? And on the qﬁes"biOr‘z
bility I assume that I can show hls asso
night, and show that he wasg with a man named
THE COURT: But you say that
is ‘behind the bars, and - I sustain the obaectioyw7
that, and direct the-jury to utterly disregard‘fhaim
Now, the Jjury understgnd the reason why-tﬁese_éﬁgéé{f
:tions are'allowed Jnd'I sustain the ‘objéction2 ' 
as to "Doggie" being now behind the bars.
‘BY MR, CGLLIGAN' |
Q. And you say you never cafrled a gun before the night

in question?, A, No , sir; never, N -

Q. Now, isn't it a fact that you shot a man ini"D01larﬂ

thn'g'place, two nights before that9 A, No, sir, __:'
Q. And is 1t not a fact that you shot Harry Shea in
Dollar John's place, two nights before that? A, NO, sirg-

Q. And is it not a fact that you wrote a Tetter to Shea,‘“*

with regard to the shooting, since you have been arrested now?

A,  No, but I have wrote a letter to "Dollar. John" " A - »;‘v
Q. ‘And what did you state in the 1etter? A, I stated7 ’

in the letter that he framed me up, and‘hé agreed to have the‘t 

detectives turn me out, and thét I postponed the casé ih,fhe,ff

ﬁagistrates'_court two times, to give him time to makeﬁﬁp w$th

these detectives, to correct their error in arresting me, _Ihén’

Detective Pflaster told me personally tO‘Qaive 




'«

examinanlon on account of him fearlng Magistr

“he would turn me out in the arand Jjury roqm.

BY THE COURT’
Qe

asked‘whax you said in the letter? A. Yes, sir;

Now,

Now, did you say all that in the letter?.-

that in the letter, .
BY MR, COLLIGAN’

Q. And you have not been reading the neWSpapers, this

T e

Y

morning, have you? . | b'f”k

i .
"

‘_{d

e

THE COURT'_ No, never mlnd that He need not
~ answer that questien, ;
Q. And so that "Doggle" was in the immedlate vicrnity“

iand followed you, and Otto- Canpbell was there, and Tobias W 

'theretoo? A, Yes.

Q. Now, were there any other fellows there that ‘you kne

A, Well, there was a crowd of pe0ple there at the time of the
arrest,
Qe
and a fallow by the name of "Delly",
Q.
show? A, Yes, sir.

But who was with 3 you? A, Otto Campbell, Paul Tobias

And you three fellows had been to a moving pieture

e

4§

Q. And left that picture show t6 go over to the corﬁer§"

in front of "Dollar thn's" place, didn't you? A 'Hb, Bir;TH

to the ice cream parlor. We crossed over to that, and tnat

is six doors fram'his place.



R

Q. And you fellows have been %agether s°
A, No, sir, Otto Canmbell had been with:me,“
o*clock, and we met these two fellows in the*moving
and about ten after eleven, we went across to theli,°
parlor. | o |

Q; Now, did you write that - 1etter to the Dlstr,
Attorney (indlcating letter)? A, Yes, sir, |

MR, COLLIGAN: I will offer that letter_‘n evi

dence, if your honor please.

THE COURT. Well if it contradicts any:‘ti

that he made here.
MR, CQELIGAN Yes, Blr,.lt does contradlc,
- statements that he has made here. |

THE COURT' You may confront him‘with any
ment which contradicts ahy;mrt of his testimony‘ é

MR, COLLIGAN: Yes, sir, that is my dbae

- I offer it in evidence for that purpose.
(It is admitted, Without obaectionm and marked
‘People's EXhibit ngn)

MR, COLLIGAN I won't read all the 1etter, ;ief
will let the attorney read the 1ette:41ater“1f‘he,~‘
wishes. ‘ . | e

THE COURT: You may read any part yeuewisﬂ.‘ Iﬁy
is all in evidence, But I think you had bepfei,fead
it all,

| R, COLLIGAT: Very well, sim,




(The Dlstrlct Attorney reads frqm
to the Jury)

BY MZR. COLI.IGAN.

Q. Nt:w,7 you wrote this letter to Distrlct Aﬁtofn

man, didn't you? A; 'Yes, sir.
Q. Who were the lady friends? | .
THE COURT:" Well I think you had better  ead
the Whole letter and: get through with it It isf“n
evidence and must be read, once you pu% it in eviéa
'dence; Get through with the letter and then youvi
may ask him any ques&ions that you please concef' n
any part off*f” _ B o e
MR, COLLIGAN: Very Well; sir; I'Will'xéad‘i
to the end; | . C ‘»
(The District Attorney cOntinues-ﬁh@ﬁ?Q%ﬁi§8  £
the exhibit). | |
BY MR. COLLIGAN:

Q. Now, who were the Wamen you were with? ,A. ﬂhe~WQmén vi5

were not with me, They happened to pass along at the time I

was standing there, and they stopped for a few moments, and I

was on the verge of saying good. bye at the time of my'a:regt,;

Q. Now, why did you forget that when your dire&t‘examinaé
tion was broﬁght out by your attorney, why did yPu forget’fd'.
tell about them? A. Well, they weren't with me, They have
jﬁst accosted me on their way homé, and stappe@ over for a

moment, They weren't with me properlys

g4 1 E LR




-,

[ Now,, Who were *they" A. well, I wouls

mention in the court thelr names., - | A

Q. They are respectable ladies? A; ;
respectable ladies, and I wouldn't like to mix theﬁ: n
like this, ' )

Q. ' Now, you say that these detectives Were in thk
ity? A, Yes, siz, | =
Qe Then why did you write in your 1etter to hhe D,
Attorney that someﬁhlng happened, and you.were grabbed,fanﬁ;,
‘later on you found them out to be deteotives? A. Bécaﬁ%éf?;;
Q Why9 A. Because(they came ‘over in civilian clothes
and I am not supposed to know ‘they are deteotlves.. ' .S f
Q. Now, you said on the W1tness stand here that you tssa.‘wb~
those detectives, only a 1itﬁ1e while. together, and knew Who;- o
;they were? A, ¥es, sir, . | ‘ MV; 
Q. Then why, in this letter, did you write to the Dis~   f*;‘
trict Attorney that you did not know who they were until yduj;'wij
had been thrown into the arms of one of them? A, g3 dpn't
state in that letter that I did not know who they Were?
MR. COLLIGAN: Then let us read it again,
THE COURT: Well, mbt the jury decide thai
The writing is there, it is in evzdence, and thqy
must decide what the writing is, You may ask about
any line or part of it that you wish,, but, wpen,hﬁ,
makes an explanation go on to éomething.éise;_

hd




BY MR CQELIGAN'_'
Q-'o

i - from his sleeve? A, Thie pa.rty has been Bpiri‘l:ef‘v away

Who was

"Dollar John" a.nd the detectives.

THE COURT: Now. strike that out. He d

you what happened to a.ny one, but- he a.sked, ‘
what person you referred, Strike out the vanswe‘r'_
| ‘not r‘esporisive'.

< ' THE WITNE‘SS" I know hm to be the brother oi’
one of ’che men that was W:Lth me. T

BY THE COURT: o |
Q,. Well, what is his name? A, Campbell, I know, at
least is his last name. -

BY MR, COLLIGAN:_

Q. Campbell? A Yes, sir'
Qe Now, ig it Otto Campbell or the other Campbell tha‘b youv.‘
refer to? A, It is a brother of his, _ .
Q. Not the pickpocket? A, No, sir; I don't know him ﬁdffffif
be a pickpocket_v. . | | i
R, GUTMAN: I object to that to that characternm:
. iza‘blon of, a person in this case, i " P
S @HE COURT: Vell, the question has been“rut and
— - answered. He has the right to sh.ow, if he can,, tha.‘b

he associlates with pickpockets, if -he wishes -.to do 80y

-

because that is disgraceful conduct to which his at-.



tentioﬁ'mAy be called onﬁ¢rossjexaminaﬁi:ﬁ§

_purpose, of proving his guiltkcf'this'crime,

the purposé;of'allbWing the.jury-to‘detenmine

~.:Weight they Will give to his testimony. _
"MR, GUTMAN: ‘But I obJect to it on acco‘

Athe‘Diétrict Attbrney!s acharacterization'ofyanp

person’. . : | 7

MR, COLLIGAN: Well, I am bound by his answer,
THE CQURT: The statements made by the Diaﬁrt;ﬁ*

Attorney are not evidence; ;' | | g
MR; GUTHAN: I apprébiate thafi but~when' 

they are improper questions I must.object,jand(i sake

van exception, o | |
THE COUR}T:« Object ion overruied’.
MR, GUTMAN: Exception,

THE COURT: And, of course, the Dlstrict Atﬁorney |
'w111 ask no nuestionu unless it is asked in good
faith, and, if you can prove that he does, then that "
Will be highly reprehensible conduct, and I dQVnPt 5° o
think that Mr, Colligan will do 1%, . . -
BY MRQ. COLLIGAN: ,
Q. DNow, when was this man spirited away? _Av Sincefi
have been confined in the Tombs, . |

Q. And when did you hear of his being splrited away? A,
I heard of it today.



TEHEL ]

Qs
1 _heard , today,

Only today? A. And 1 ‘heﬂara oflt ;a,f'

of other wi"tne'sé':e,s 'being' s*plrit
Q. Who tola you that‘? A. I was told by my ca

he could not 1o ai‘.e these ‘v1tnasoes.
“T;Q. That he sonld not locate them? Ao ’l‘nat he
locate them. k : . , | . | .~ ‘
Q.' Did you ask yourA couns el to pfodﬁce the two C
bells? A. I asked him to produce one. | |
Q. Which one? A, Otto Campbell. - )

Q. How long ago did you ask your counsal to‘pr.o@ﬁ'eug

A, Why 31nce I retained him.

Q. Do you know whether or not he was seen a‘b any t:mxa
since your arrest? A. He was soon. | ‘

Qs Now, ‘when dld you learn he was last seen? A. Hg
waé seen last night‘. |

Q. He was seen last night? A. Yes, sir.

Qe A.nd he has been spirited away since last mgh’fz?
A I don't say that Otto Campbell has been splrlted awa:h
say that the man who informed me, WhO overheard this conversaﬁ_"l
tion, has been épir-ited away. . |

Q. Who overheafd the conversation? A. ‘A brothgr of -
_Ottb Campbell. | _ ' . o
o Q. A brother of Otto Campbell? A. W}e‘ll, I know h:lm to

be a brother of Otto Gamnbell.

Q. _Now you say that the officer assaulted vou? A. He

did.



Q¢ Why dion't you tell that on the~witnesé]s and

under direct examination to your own counsel? A, I di

that .

Qe Now, who informed you that you were the victﬁn“
 conspiracy? A. This man who overheard the cqﬁverséﬁidhf
Q. Who is he? A. I know him to be a brother of

Campbell.

a conépiracy? ‘A. Five mihutes previous to my arrest.'“ 1ﬁﬁ
QQ 'Oh, five mimites béfore youf arrest ? - A. Yes,;si‘
Q. Now; he had'been"with you all the evening, had h£‘ﬁat:
A, He.héd_not,' | | | | | |
Q. Why$ havén't.you said that-éampbell was one\bfzﬁh%f
men who went to the.picture_show.with you? A. Yes, OttQAfU
Campbeall. | ’liu 
»Q{: Otto Camnbell? A. Yes,K sir. But I fefer'td'a;dif;}' ’
ferent Campbell  who infonned‘me,'who I know.tp be a brdth¢r7éf}k‘?
this Otto. - | - ]
Q. And that b.r?oth er that you refer to , and who. .ha.sbeen fvf",‘ :
Spirited away, vou say, was with ybu in the crovd, that,niéht;  ‘ |
was he not?. A. He wasn't. | | | <j!
Q. And he folled the detectives, that night; didn‘t:he?fj‘
A. I don't know whether he followed the dete@tives or nots I
justVSimpléwétated that he in"ormed ne, and.iémediateiy aftep

that I did not see him any moree



Q. Well, he informed vou that he folloved

didn't he? A. Yes, he followed them until the
‘arrests R S i ) D o
Q.: Apd'he-bvérheard fhen sa& that hey wdﬁlﬁgfran
up, or something of that kind? A. Yes;'sir; he taiﬁn
he overheard that statenent.' ; _ | ;
| Q. Now, at whose house do ﬁou board? A, 'Josep££0amp
beil, 24‘Avenué‘B. | | o e
Q. Who is he? A. A brother of Otto Caﬁpbéll.
Q. You board at his brother's house then? YA.‘ Ygs,‘
I board at Otto Campbell's brOther'éihQusa‘ - | P
Q. You board at Otto Campbell's brother's hbusg?.¢AQ'

\

Yes . sire

’
- Qs And these two men afé bbotheré‘are‘they‘not?  @,f
sir. _ _ 1 "
Q. Jow Campbell is the bro*her of Otto? A, Yes sir;y
Q. And do you know where Joe. Canpbell is now? A. Well
1 hgvm't heard from him. o
Q. How long had you known him? A, ~Well, I.khow2hﬁ@?§1

" about two years. | i
Q. What is his business? A. I don't know his businesss
I never inquired his business. ”
Q. Though you know him two years? 'A. Yes, sira’

Q. And vou ﬁent to board with him? -A. Yes, sire

Q. Rather thar live with vonr osun folks? A, Well, I . T



had some dlsag z-eanent wi tlh my folkjs &n& I :1'

MR, VOJLIGAN 1 thihk tbat is
REDIRECT EXAMINATION BY MR, SUTMAN:

Q,. The Dlstmct Attorney has asked you about' 3
up statement who made that to you? A, A person-mid -
to be a brother of Otto Campbell. - |

| Q. Wasn't it made that nighé?' Aw Yes, i£ WaSSQadét

flve mlnut es previous to my arrest to me.

Q. What was that statement? A, He said that he had
oxferhearu a conversation at the corner of Suffolk and Houstan,
Street, bgtween Detectlves‘Lieb ers , .Pﬂaster‘, V'fDolZl.at_r J‘ohni‘-'}
and _Harry Shea, and he heard my name menti oned, and he hear
then say that there would be no .com’e‘ back , to 'sti'ck a g,un:m e
rﬁy.pocke't. o | | o

Qs Do you remember sommtlnng “happening in the ice crem“}_ e
saloon there about a silk han_dkerchlef? Al Yes, sir, I ha.d
extracted a handkerchief from Otto. Campbell s pocket and ,
sccuza‘tea.it under my hat, and Otto Campbell asked me——ferwthe |
.handk erchief, and I told him I didn 't have it, and he ‘sta‘rtgd"} )
to search me. He searched me thoroughly in every pocket, and 5
didn't fina the handkerchief, and at last he took my nat off -
and found the handkerchief under my hat. | |

BY THE COURT: , -

B

Q. And vou didn't have a gun on you then? A.  No, sir.

Q. And how long after that was it that the policenan




-fdund‘the gun? A, I_éhguld‘judgéiit.ﬁﬁsftéﬁf@‘n

that . | | o - R

Q. This Campbell i# your chan, is he? A.

WEY o ' THE CéﬁRT: : ISVUaﬁpfeilfin the}rod@~'éw

;wout,'Mﬂafgierk, if Campbell,is in the fodﬁgf

“THE CLERK: Is Otto Campbell in the ro

fHE CAPTAIN: He“éoes not answer,vYOﬁr Pb r

' BY THE GOURT: | ” o ) ’ " 3‘
- Q. Now,»wh;ch pbcket di& you take the héndkerchiéffbﬁ'

? ‘A. This poecket here iindicating the.upber left breasff;

pbcket). A silk hendkerchief. | i 2 |
'Q. And he hed a sack coat;dn;,did hé? A, 'Yes’quf

sir. | | |

Q. Aﬁ& vou have now? A. Yes;

Q. - And aid he see you take it out? A, Yes, Siri‘ 
Qs Then why did he search your pockets, if he saw,“
take it out? A. Why he saw me fooling around and I slipp

it under my hat.

Q. He didn't see you slip it under your hat? A, ;NQ;f}VM

sir. | | )
Q. Well, what prevented him from seeing that? A. i , 
don't know. . ‘_>'
Q. VWas he struck blind all of a sudden? A. Oh, ﬁd,‘
sir. When he.seen me passing my hands around’ his.boay"j'
(illusgratipg), so he grabbed my pockets (illustrating),ﬂ&nﬁ‘
while he vas searching my pockets I put it under my hat (il

lustrating).




BY MR. GUTMAN:

Q. Have you i‘ha.ci( any e:'zpfei-i.eﬁqle :Ln the way o
pock ets? A  Yes, s:.r. | R
c MR, QUTHAN ; That is all.
MR, COLLIGAN: That is all.
THE COURT: Have vou éﬁy other Witﬁref“s
MR, GUIMAN: Yes , sir, one, Camebell.
be called out in the hall? = e
THE COURT: Yes.' The‘ Cap tain will call ‘hi
THE CAPTAIN : Ho
MR, GUTMAN';'
and has gone . |
| THE COURT:Seven times on the calendar, 1 w}eli:[ev'e'i,
this case ﬁras, and you were not- here at ;a’ll-,: ‘
day. R - 'I.f:j | u
MR, GUTMAN: " Well s bui: I spok e_‘ fq .th"e,. WJ.tness
vyest erday, and I expected him to be ._he:re: bOdaYa |
' THE COURT: No, the jury wi_ll.di:sregérd,a@y;"v“t
statenent by counsel not supported bY theawom i
testimony. o _ }
MR, GUIMAN: I ask for an’adjeurpment tdgé{gt 7‘__'. .
this witness here. _ ., | i
THE COURT: Motion denied. You have had smple
time to gfet. all your witnesses here, and you kept

us vaitine here yesterday, and I had to gsgi_gu other

Y MM s
g
. .




‘sent, and , under the“circumstances,‘
you any further ‘adjournment.

MR GUIMAN: Then the defence rests,

MR. COLLIGAN: The people rest, your Honor

(Mr. uutman then summea up for the defence,

Mre Colllgan closed the case for the PeOple¢,




The People
~ . VSe
*PEILIP FRIEDMAN.

. THE coum* s CAARGE.

MUL@UEEN 3.4

'Gentlanen of the Jury;

This defendant has been 1ndlcted by the Gr, d
of th1s Qounty of the crime of crlmlnally hav1ng andecar
a flreann concealed upon hlS person. ‘

The 1ndlcmﬁent charges that in thls Gounty thé

Gounty of New York on the 29th‘day of May 1912 thlsﬁ

certain revolver, each of the same being of a SiZé_Whi

be then and there concealed upon thé'person3 withdutua
license for either of them, theretofore issued to him,by}
police magistrate of said city, or 1n any manner p"escrl

ordinance in or of the sald c1ty against the form of the

S e

HREE

statute in such case made and provided, and agaznst the peace nf«ff

the People of the State of New York and their dlgnlty.,

You understand by this time What .an 1ndlchnent 15‘ Itﬂ ,

is a’ charge made by the PeOple of the State of New York aga&nst
theﬂgefendant, and it is put in writing so that tke chargeinay
. be &efini£e and certain, so that it will not changeloverﬂnight,
and so that the defendant may kﬁow exactly what it is, ?ﬁd ‘1

80 that vou may have it h»efore you when he'qomes to trial.

oo

4 by




‘That, in thls county “on the day mentioned in thls_;

" pistol or a revolver, or a weapon of that kl_nd,;Wlthoutwa’f

‘pistol nor revolvers It is for you to decide from ther’ ‘

Now what 1s the charge here? A ’v‘-ery' ‘iimpl:

this defendant did what? Fei’oniously did have and

p1stol and a certaln revolver. The words: pzsto}l ané’. re 01

are merely repet1t10n. I:f‘ it be shown that he had. - e, thet

license duly issued to him by the proper au%thorit'i es, and 1:13‘
the weapon was of a size Whlch mipght be concealed upon hls
person, that would be sufflcl ent proof of the truth of the

charges  The answer of the d ef endant 13 that ‘he had ne:z.the:c

\évidencebwhether he had or had not .
Under our law,6 if he consciously cafried'a pistoikdr‘
a revolver ooncealed upon hls person Wlthout legal authorltv.
to do so he is- aullty of a felony., If he did not have thgp»
weapon, if vou are not convinced by the proof beyond a Peasonp.y. '
able‘dbubt that he had it, then you must acquit hime That is -
all there is in the cases 1t is a very simple cases |
Now , the law that is referred to in tﬁe inﬁictmeﬁt,is :f
found in Section 1897 of the Penal Law .and 1t is as folloWs.‘ e
"Carrying and use of dangerous weapons . A«person.vho'
attempts to use against another,vor'who carries;{or possesseg,

any instrument or weapon of the kind commonly known asﬁaﬂ'bljack-’f‘

s +

jack, slungshot, billy, sandclub , sandbag, metal knuckles ar .




bludgebﬁ or who w1th 1ntent to use the saﬁe ﬁ”
another; carries or possesses a dagger dlﬁk ﬁ“ g'r‘_
‘razor, stiletto, or any’ other dangercus or deadl&
-or.wegpon is gullty of & felony ,
And another subdiv131on of that section the
Whlch applles to this partlcnlar case, provides? .“
"Any~person over the age of.slxteenvyears, Wh6~é 
heve or carry concealed.ﬁpon'his person in any city, villéé&ﬁ‘
or town of this-state, any pistol, revolver, or other fifeéhn
‘withoﬁt a written license therefor, theretofore isSued:tQ hnﬁ
by & police mégistrate of suchAqity'orAvillage,'or by a justic
of the peace of such tdwn, or in such manner as maygbefpre er
ed by ordinance of such city, villége or town, shallrbe gﬁ?*ty
of a felony." : . o | , : ')4’ '
The question for you to determine from the eviﬂe‘
is, is that a revolver or bistol'which‘is-nresented iﬁve&iﬁej°
here? Is it of a size which may be carrled or concealed‘upon
the pefson? Dia this defendant nave it on his person? Dld he
have a‘license for it? = 1Is he over 51xteen years of age? He

has testified to his age., He has denled that he had this re-

volver, and there is no evidence that he had a license for 1t.

1t was incﬁmbent on him to present evidence that he had. a
license, if he had one  because that is a mat &r of defsnﬁes

So the question for you to decide is whether or not he had a

pistol concealed in his pocket, as the officer stated.




If &6u-a£é-satisfiéd by tﬁe evidéﬁce beyond:éAkéé
.that he had you must say . so by a verdlct of gumlty‘
If you are not satisfled by the evldence beyond a réas nak
doubtnthatAhe had it, then you must acqalt hnn.-
The defendant is‘nresumed to be innocent faﬁd ‘é}

entitled t0 be acqultted unless the ev1dence sat:sfles

of his guilt beyond a reasonable doubt.. That is the law.~

Now , you’have'heard the evidence, and the Gourt is
bound to tell you the 1aw plalnly and clearly and you.musb
obey_the law. You must take the law as the Court gives it
youl On the question of fact your authorlty is suprane;
Judgment is what the law asks , ana you must devote yoursel
to the duty of ascertalnlny the truth frOm the evldence’”
honest meh, seek1ng to do-your_full duty, reallzing th “
are doing the most 1mportant work. that a citlzen 1s‘
upon‘tO‘dq,‘ln,a republic, in time of pnace to declde :
énd honéstly upon the evidence. That is all -the law reqnires‘l;
of you.} | - X -

Now facts in a case are proved by W1tnesses and y0u .

have h@ard the witnesses. As 1 rec011ect ‘there were two poliaeff:

officers and the defendant, I do not recall anv oﬁher»withSSo 
The law makes you ‘the judge of the credibility of w1tnesses.l
Who told the truth? That is your burden to determines ‘pr,
heard the stofy of the officers, and you-noticed'theirdﬂanﬁer
on the stand; and, if there 1s any eonglﬁct between thﬁ de=

fendant's testimonv and theirs you must ﬁeelae Wh@ told ﬁh@




One of the officers testified that .he

volver in the defendent'slpockgp.; That'he'serhi'

;the place where the arrest WaSVmede,"With oﬁhemS}

raincoat on, and that he ﬁf;isked" him, in the xaegu_

policeman, and he showed you how that was done

, and t
found a protuberance in his sack coat pocket, the cosat

defendant Wore. under the rain coat, and that he put his

into that pocket,

and pulled out the revolvers Thebeﬁhf_»
officer says that he sazw that done. | R
v' The defiendant says that he had no revolver inf 

pocket ahd'%het,-if it was found‘there,'it was butvinté
epocket by-theﬂofficer who seefehed him.
| Now you must determine who told the truth"‘
you find from the evidence beyond a reasenable dOubt B t-ﬁhex
‘defendant is guilty Mif you find that he knowingly had a .

"revolver in his pocket, and if that revolver is of the kind

specified in the indicfment and in‘the statute, you_must'finﬁ{p:'

him guilty. If you have a reasonable doubt you'must*aeéﬁi#g°"‘

him,.

As I Sald durlng the trlal in decldinn the credlbil-_

ity of'witnesses, you may eon31der the motlves of witnesses,;

if any, in the case, and theeeheracter.

if any, their interest,
of the witnesses. That is & very important elemenx enﬁ that

is the reason why the Court allowed the defendent to he



interrOgated concernlng hls past life aﬁuto h

was an ex—conv1ct or whether or not he assoc

of aoubtful reputation. Those questlons:weref

| his character S0 that if he was contradlctea by
nesses who ‘have not been 1mpeached you‘may con51der “
character of the defendant in detenninlng howwmuch wemm“ 
w111 give hils testlmony.

You must be COncinced‘ beyond a reasonaﬁla‘dd
after a careful exanlnatlon of the evldence that he 1sm
‘as charged in the 1nd10hnent before you can cOnvict bmm.
you are so0 satisfied, “then you must say 80, but if yOu‘

atlsfied of his gullt beydnd & reasonable doubt frqmj he, ‘ rxs
~whole evidence, then you must .acquit him. : :
Any requests?
MR, AUIMAN: No, sir.
THE.COURT: Mr. District Attorney}é .
MR, COLLIGAN: No, 6 sir. SES
THE FIFTH JUROR: Shall we tske the létter alofg—
thet he wrote? | | | .
. THE COURT: You mean the exhibit in the case? ]
THE FIFTH-JUROR: Yes sire |

THE. COURT: Yes , you may have it by coneent i

- you wisl ite



COIARLT;

‘MR, GUTMAN;. I consent; sir.

‘MR, COLLIGAN: And so do I.

TEE COQRT' Then you may take the rev
if you wish;' You may have all the exhlbits,
defendant does not obJect.

MR, GUTMAN: No, sir; I don't obJec¥¢

- _ ‘ - ~ THE FIFTH JﬁROR:A No, no, only the letter, hha ;
‘is all we want.

THE COURT: AThen‘you may take the letter,A
_gentlemen. And you ﬁav pass outae |

(The jury retired at 11.:50 A, M)

The jury returned to the court room at 33 50
o'clock, finding the ‘defendant guilty as charged7 n
the indictment, . e

MR, GUTVAN: Will yoﬁr Honor'ai1oW me to délay}
any motions that I desire to make for a few days?

THE COURT: Let the clerk take his pedigree flrsh7

(The clerk tskes the defendant s pedlgree).

THE COURT: Now, I will hear you counsellor?

MR, GUTMANf May the defendant be’ renanded for a
few days? Will your Honor ad;ourn the sentence?

THE COURT: ﬁntil Thursday ?

MR, GUTMAN: Yes, sir.

THE COURT: One weék. The matter is postpbned

until the 24th, =snd vour ripht to make such:motions as

you may »e advised at that time is reserveds -
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